THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge  
Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-000779

---

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Gary Moore,

Appellant.

RECEIVED  
MAR 15 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Tricia A. Blanchette  
Post Office Box 2147  
Leesville, SC 29070  
(803) 908-3266

Attorney for Appellant

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Lower Court Erred in Finding that Appellant Was Not Entitled to Immunity from Prosecution.
- II. Whether the Lower Court Erred by Failing to Grant a Directed Verdict.
- III. Whether the Lower Court Committed Reversible Error in the Response Provided to the Jury Questions Over Appellant's Objection.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the December 2015 term of the Chesterfield County Grand Jury, Appellant was indicted for attempted murder (Indictment No.: 2015-GS-13-0398). On February 17, 2016, the Honorable Roger E. Henderson conducted a Duncan<sup>1</sup> hearing under the Protection of Persons and Property Act (S.C. Code Ann. 15-11-410) at the Chesterfield County Courthouse. Appellant was present and represented by the Larry W. Knox, Esquire. The State was represented by Kenard Redmond, Deputy Solicitor, and Mary T. Johnson-Lee, Deputy Solicitor. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Henderson took the matter under advisement. Immunity Hearing p. 120. As is addressed in the trial record, Judge Henderson found Appellant was not entitled to immunity from prosecution.

On April 5, 2016, Applicant was called to trial at the Chesterfield County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury. Appellant was present and represented by the Larry W. Knox, Esquire. The State was represented by Kenard Redmond, Deputy Solicitor, and Mary T. Johnson-Lee, Deputy Solicitor. On April 6, 2016, the jury returned a guilty verdict, and the Honorable Paul M. Burch asked for a pre-sentence investigation report. R. pp. 231, 241.

---

<sup>1</sup> State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011).

On April 11, 2016, the Honorable Paul M. Burch conducted a sentencing hearing. Appellant was sentenced to a term of eighteen (18) years for attempted murder. Sentencing R. p. 248.

A timely direct appeal was filed, from which this Brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

### I. Statement of the Facts

#### A. Immunity Hearing

On February 17, 2016, the Honorable Roger E. Henderson conducted a Duncan hearing under the Protection of Persons and Property Act (S.C. Code Ann. 15-11-410) at the Chesterfield County Courthouse. Appellant was present and represented by the Larry W. Knox, Esquire. The State was represented by Kenard Redmond, Deputy Solicitor, and Mary T. Johnson-Lee, Deputy Solicitor.

At the beginning of the hearing, Mr. Knox informed the court that he had filed a discovery request on July 21, 2015, but he had just received a disc with a witness statement on it. R. p. 260. In response, Ms. Johnson-Lee explained that the discovery referred to a witness by the name of Steven, with his last name unknown, since he had left the scene prior to being interviewed by law enforcement. R. pp. 260-261. She further explained that Steven Hooks had been located by law enforcement in the last couple weeks, a subpoena had been issued, and she had interviewed him at the courthouse yesterday. R. p. 261. During that interview, she discovered he had previously been interviewed by law enforcement. R. p. 261. She agreed that she had just provided defense counsel the disc containing his interview, but she had turned it over within thirty minutes of receiving it. R. p. 261. After informing the court Mr. Hooks was present to testify, Mr. Knox withdrew his objection. R. p. 262.

Thereafter, Appellant took the stand and testified as follows. On July 14, 2015, he went to the convenience store at issue since he needed fuel and it was about three miles from his job site and three miles from his residence. R. p. 263. He had to go into the store to get a drink, cigarettes and pay for his gas. R. pp. 262-263. He spoke to the kid running the produce stand on his way into the dimly lit store. R. p. 263. He indicated that his eyes were having a hard time adjusting from the outside light, and he did not see anyone upon entering. R. pp. 265-266.

After entering, he was headed to get a drink and about three feet away from the cooler when he heard a voice behind him state: "I told you I was going to kill you. I told you I was going to catch you somewhere you little b\*\*\*\*." R. pp. 264-265. He identified the voice as belonging to Mr. Wallace, and he turned around to locate him. R. pp. 266-267. He testified:

I said, Mr. Wallace. And I think the other fellow was coming down the aisle with him. Mr. Wallace had already come about four feet down that aisle or so, blocking my only route for escape. I went back towards him. He slaps me upside the head. I attempted to push him off the aisle. He grabbed me by the hair of my head and snatched me down to the ground with him and the good Samaritan proceeded to choke me around my neck, yanking around my throat and choking me.

R. p. 267, lns. 7-18.

He further explained that he had much longer hair at the time, and Mr. Wallace grabbed both sides of his hair as Mr. Wallace pulled him to the ground. R. p. 269. He hit his "head pretty decent." R. p. 269, ln. 18. He realized there was another person, whom he had never seen before, with both hands around his neck choking him. R. pp. 269-270. He began to black out, could not get his arms up, but he could reach his sheath holding his knife. Immunity Hearing pp. 270, 299-300. He recalled: "I couldn't see where I was getting or who I was getting, but, you know, I

---

<sup>2</sup> Due to the nature of the legal arguments in this Brief, Appellant's counsel finds it necessary to include quotes of strong/offensive language that she would typically omit. In line with a quote from an appellate case herein, asterisks will be used in quoting such language.

repeatedly stabbed trying to get these people off me.” R. p. 270, lns. 17-20. When asked if it appeared that the second person was trying to come to his aid, he responded: “Hey, there was no way possible. I mean, if that person was helping me, then that was – that was about the least help I have ever received in my life.” R. p. 287, lns. 11-16.

He further explained how he was pinned and could not get away, as follows:

Yes, sir, I couldn't move; they had me pinned down. He had me by the hair of the head down, the other fellow had more than --- I mean, I think there was a video. The fellow back there, he had me around the neck choking me. I couldn't go towards him or away from him because they were both on me.

R. p. 271, ln. 20 – p. 18, ln. 1.

When asked why he felt he needed to use his knife, he responded:

Well, I didn't know what they were going to do after that fellow choked me out. I mean, honestly, this fellow, he tried to attack me with an axe handle. He tried to kill me that one time. I mean, the fellow jumped on me in a magistrate's office in front of Officer Hutchinson back there. You know, I mean, this fellow is --- something's not right. Do you understand? I'm scared of that fellow. I don't know what he's going to do to me when I'm unconscious.

R. p. 272, lns. 4-13. He explained that Mr. Wallace had informed Appellant and law enforcement that Mr. Wallace intended to kill him, so he was “without a doubt” – in fear for his life. R. p. 272, lns. 17 – 25, p. 281, ln. 20 – p. 282, ln. 1.

After getting out of the store, he called 911, and deputies responded. R. p. 283. He flagged down Officer Hutchinson and told him he had been attacked. R. p. 284. He was placed in handcuffs and provided Officer Hutchinson his knife. R. pp. 284-285. He understood that he was being placed in the officer's car for his protection since Mr. Wallace's friends and family were congregating at the store. R. p. 284.

Appellant did not receive EMS treatment, but he got medical treatment at the jail. R. pp. 285, 289. He recounted going to his doctor (Dr. David Brock) after being released. R. pp. 285,

288. His injuries included signs of a concussion and swelling around his neck. R. p. 285. His doctor recommended an MRI, but he could not afford to get one. R. p. 288.

Previously, Mr. Wallace had gotten into an argument with Appellant's fiancé's mother at Appellant's residence, which resulted in Mr. Wallace appearing to leave in his truck. R. p. 273. While Appellant was on the porch with his young son, Mr. Wallace pulled up, appeared to attempt to pull a weapon, but he was kept from firing by the passenger. R. p. 274. Then, Mr. Wallace got out, grabbed an axe handle, chased Appellant with it and damaged Appellant's property and vehicle when he could not get to Appellant. R. pp. 274-275.

Appellant detailed his attempt to file charges, which resulted in an appearance in magistrate court. R. pp. 276-277. He also detailed Mr. Wallace's attempt to attack him in magistrate court. R. pp. 277-278. He recalled receiving a judgement of five hundred dollars in magistrate's court, but not being able to secure a restraining order against Mr. Wallace. R. p. 279. Thereafter, he took a job out of state, to avoid being in the area and around Mr. Wallace. R. p. 280. He recalled being at the convenience store four to five times in the prior year and never seeing Mr. Wallace at the store. R. p. 281.

Appellant acknowledged that he had the knife at issue with him during the incident at his residence and in magistrate court. R. p. 278. He explained he solely intended to get fuel and cigarettes at the store and he did not intend to harm anyone. R. p. 280. He understood that he had a right to be at the convenience store, but he would have left and risked running out of gas if his way out had not been blocked by Mr. Wallace. R. p. 282.

Following Appellant, Mr. Wallace took the stand. Mr. Knox asked him where he was living on July 14, and he responded that he was living with Appellant's mother-in-law. Thereafter, a rather unresponsive period of questioning followed, as reported:

Mr. Knox: Okay. Now you heard Mr. Moore testify about –

Mr. Wallace: All he –

Court: Sir. Sir, let's get something straight before we start. Let him ask the question completely before you to answer.

Mr. Wallace: Yes.

Court: And he'll let you answer before he asks another one.

Mr. Wallace: Okay. Okay.

Mr. Knox: Thank you, Your Honor. Mr. Wallace, you heard Mr. Moore testify about an incident that happened at your [his] mother-in-law's?

Mr. Wallace: Yes, sir.

Mr. Knox: Can you tell the Court what happened with that incident from your point of view?

Mr. Wallace: Why don't we subpoena his mother-in-law –

The Court: Answer his question. Answer his question. He asked you what your perspective of the incident was, your side of the story is with that.

Mr. Wallace: He's the one that pulled the stick. So I just reached back and got an axe handle and he run with the stick. He ain't nothing but a coward. It takes a coward man to stab a man in the back.

Mr. Knox: Okay. You still haven't answered the question. What did you do with the axe handle?

Mr. Wallace: What do you mean, what did I do with it? I put it back on the back of my truck.

Mr. Knox: What did you do with it before you put it on the back of your truck?

Mr. Wallace: I tried to – I was going to knock his brains out if I had caught him.

Mr. Knox: Instead of knocking his brains out, what did you do with the axe handle?

Mr. Wallace: Well, ask him what did he not have ---

The Court: No, sir. No, sir. No, sir. You answer his question. Answer his question.

Mr. Knox: When you decided to knock his brains out ---

Mr. Wallace: What does this got to do with this here stabbing?

The Court: Sir, let's get something straight right now. He has the right to ask questions. You have to respond to them; whether you like the questions or not, you give an answer. Do you understand?

Mr. Wallace: Okay. Okay.

The Court: You don't do it with an attitude. Do you understand? Is that clear?

Mr. Wallace: Yes, sir.

Mr. Knox: Okay. Before you decided to knock his brains out but you didn't, what did you do with the axe handle after that, sir?

Mr. Wallace: I knocked his windshield out.

R. p. 303, ln. 20 – p. 306, ln. 7.

When asked about the incident at the magistrate's office, he admitted that he tried to approach Appellant and the judge ordered that the "officer back yonder" put him in a cell. R. p. 307, lns. 5-13. He explained that he tried to approach Appellant because "I can't stand him." R. p. 307, lns. 14-15.

Turning to the July 14, 2015 encounter, he testified that he could not stand Appellant then and "can't stand him today." R. p. 308, lns. 8-16. Thereafter, he testified, as follows:

Mr. Knox: Did you attack him in that store?

Mr. Wallace: Yeah, we went at it in the store.

Mr. Knox: No. I didn't ask you did we go at it, I said, did you attack him at the store, sir.

Mr. Wallace: Yes.

Mr. Knox: You slapped him?

Mr. Wallace: Yeah.

Mr. Knox: Did you have reason to slap him?

Mr. Wallace: I thought I did.

Mr. Knox: Why? Because you couldn't stand him?

Mr. Wallace: That might have been what it was.

Mr. Knox: Okay. So you slapped him without provocation or cause; is that correct, sir?

Mr. Wallace: No. He come in running his mouth to me.

R. p. 308, ln. 17 – p. 309, ln. 6.

When asked about slapping Appellant, he shared the following opinion: "It takes a coward man to stab a man in the back." R. p. 312, lns. 23-24. He further responded: "To me, if you're man enough to run your mouth, then you're man enough to tote an a\*\* whipping." R. p. 313, lns. 2-4. He affirmed his intent to give Appellant an a\*\* whipping. Immunity Hearing p. 313, lns. 5-7.

On cross-examination, he answered that he did not recall punching Appellant repeatedly before getting stabbed four times, yet later he agreed they were engaged in a tussle. R p. 315, lns. 17-25, p. 319, lns. 21-25. When asked to go through his memory of the fight, Mr. Wallace responded:

Well, we fell to the ground and – and the young man came in, and Mr. Moore told him to get me off of him, you know. And so the boy broke us up. I told the boy not let him up because I knowed he had that knife on his side.

Just as soon as he comes up, he went to stabbing. He even stabbed the little boy in the arm.

R. p. 316, ln. 19 – p. 37, ln. 3. On redirect, he testified that he saw Appellant’s knife when he came in the store and prior to slapping him. R. p. 321.

When Steven Hooks was called to the stand, he indicated the he had forgotten about the incident on July 14, 2015, and he had been in the courtroom listening to the testimony. He provided the following recollection of the events in question:

Mr. Hooks: Well, every day I come in that store to get my afternoon stuff... The next thing I know – I’m leaning down because what I needed to get was on the bottom. I’m 5, 5, I can’t hardly see over the racks, and I hear something. And I kind of looked up and the Lance cracker rack was pulled over. And I thought some kid had pulled over, you know, no big deal. As I started walking up the aisle I see two fellows on the ground. By the time I get closer and closer, I see blood. And I think his name is Gary –

Mr. Redmond: Gary and Charles. Mr. Wallace.

Mr. Hooks: And I thought they was just tussling, you know. I was like, let’s break it up, because the lady at the cash register, she was screaming. So I reached down and I think grabbed Gary, and finally got them broke up. The next thing I know, blood was everywhere. That’s about as far as I can remember.

Mr. Redmond: Did you get nicked or anything?

Mr. Hooks: Yeah, just a little.

R. p. 324, ln. 25 – p. 325, ln. 23.

In clarification, he indicated that he saw blood on the ground before he broke up the fight and was concerned with the amount of blood on the ground. R. p. 328, ln. 19-23, pp. 335-338. He recalled that they were both engaged in the fight when he pulled them apart, and he did not “know what blood it was or whose blood it was.” R. pp. 328, 329, lns. 4-13. He testified that he did not see anyone stab anyone after they were disengaged and off the floor. R. p. 337, lns. 3-6.

Thereafter, Melissa Griffin testified that she had worked at McCormick's Grill and Grocery for about five years, and she was working on July 14, 2015. She was running the register and described the incident as follows:

Ms. Griffin: It all happened so fast Mr. Charles was already in the store. Mr. Gary come in and they made eye contact, that's all I seen because I have to answer phones and do lottery also. And I didn't hear anybody say anything to anybody, it was just on.

Ms. J-L: Describe what you mean by, it was on.

Ms. Griffin: They was fighting. They was on the floor and by the time I got around – I had grabbed the phone to call 911, thinking if I threatened, you know, to call the police, they would stop fighting. Well, they kept fighting.

R. p. 340, ln. 23- p. 341, ln. 9.

She did not know who was bleeding until after the fight concluded. She believed the fighting stopped because Steven was pulling them apart. R. pp. 342-343. She recalled telling Appellant not to go anywhere, and he said he was not going anywhere. R. p. 343, lns. 9-15.

Officer Tim Hutchinson of the Chesterfield County Sheriff's Office was called to the stand. R. p. 346. He recalled being dispatched to the scene for a "fight call inside a store." R. p. 347, lns. 15-22. Upon arrival, he was flagged down by Appellant who stated that he was the victim. R. p. 349, lns. 16-23. While talking to Appellant, a woman hollered out from the store that he was the "one that stabbed him, or something of that nature." R. p. 350, lns. 1-9. He cuffed and detained Appellant for investigative purposes, and Appellant told him where his knife was located. R. p. 350. After securing Appellant and his knife, he entered the store and encountered a spot of blood near the front of the register area. R. p. 351. He located Mr. Wallace in the bathroom and recalled seeing two stab wounds and a laceration to his back. R. pp. 352-353. He then explained the photographs he took at the scene. R. pp. 353-356.

When asked if he recalled being involved in a prior matter with Appellant and Mr. Wallace in the magistrate court, he responded that he could not recall. R. p. 357.

Investigator Greg Burns of the Chesterfield County Sheriff's Department testified about responding to the scene and taking photographs. R. pp. 360-361. He explained that the store video system would not allow a download, so he used the Sheriff's Department cell phone to record the in store video. R. p. 362. He identified the disc made from the cell phone video. R. p. 362.

Over Defendant's objection, the video was admitted and played. When asked about the voices heard discussing the video, he answered that the voices were myself, Investigator Tim Perry and the store owner Keith McCormick. R. p. 365. On cross-examination, he identified Investigator Perry as the voice saying that the old man had hit or slapped him. R. p. 367, lns. 1-8. He identified his voice as the one saying, "He got stabbed already." R. p. 366, lns. 19-21.

Pursuant to South Carolina Code 16-11-440(c), Appellant's counsel argued that the testimony, video and evidence established that Appellant was entitled to immunity from prosecution. R. p. 368. Counsel referenced the two prior incidents when Mr. Wallace attacked Appellant and argued that Mr. Wallace saw an opportunity on July 14, 2015 to exercise his pent up rage and anger against Appellant. R. p. 369.

In response, the State argued that Appellant's case fell squarely within the confines of State v. Curry, 405 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013). R. pp. 370-371. The State further argued that the testimony and video established a question for the jury that would not entitle Appellant to immunity. R. pp. 372-373.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Henderson took the matter under advisement. R. p. 374. He indicated that he would decide the matter within the week and bring counsel over to put his decision on the record. R. p. 375.

#### B. Jury Trial

On April 5, 2016, Applicant was called to trial at the Chesterfield County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury. After jury selection, Mr. Knox informed the Court that there was a Duncan hearing in February, and the motion was denied. R. p. 29.<sup>3</sup> He renewed his “objection to the Court’s decision” for preservation purposes. R. p. 29.

During opening, defense counsel argued: “This case is not about attempted murder. This case is about self-defense, the God-given right that each of us have. So I would like for you to find a verdict of not guilty.” R. p. 34, lns. 17-20.

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