ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Chesterfield County  
Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge  
Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2016-000779

---

RECEIVED  
MAR 07 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

GARY MOORE,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.  
Solicitor, Fourth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 616  
Bennettsville, SC 29512  
(843) 479-6516

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

felt like Victim was “attempting to hurt” him, and he ultimately stabbed Victim multiple times. (R. pp. 160-161). Likewise, the officers discussed the physical evidence collected after the stabbing, noted the knife Appellant used to stab Victim had a roughly five-inch-long blade, and confirmed Victim’s shirt had a total of eight cuts to it subsequent to the stabbing. (R. pp. 121-128; pp. 152-153; p. 155). Finally, the recording of the incident was admitted into evidence and played for the jury. (R. pp. 125-126; p. 149; pp. 156-158; p. 168; pp. 170-171).

Following the presentation of that testimony and evidence, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict while asserting the State had failed to both prove all the elements of attempted murder and disprove self-defense. (R. p. 187). In rebuttal, the solicitor argued no evidence of self-defense was presented during trial. (R. p. 187). Furthermore, the solicitor asserted the evidence presented in regard to attempted murder was sufficient to warrant submission of the case to the jury. (R. p. 188).

After considering the arguments of the counsel, the trial judge denied the directed verdict motion. (R. p. 188). In doing so, the trial judge instructed:

Well, certainly with the evidence that’s been presented I really believe this is for the jury decision. I’d be abusing my discretion if I stepped in this matter, you know, from what is before the Court. Certainly, I’ll entertain the appropriate charges when the time comes. I don’t have any choice in this. I’ll just have to deny the motion.

(R. p. 188). Thereafter, Appellant’s case was submitted to the jury, and the jury ultimately convicted Appellant of attempted murder. (R. p. 225; p. 231).

### **ANALYSIS**

When presented with a motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence and not its weight. State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 62, 480 S.E.2d 62, 63 (1997). The trial judge should deny a directed verdict motion and submit the case

to the jury if there is any substantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt may be fairly or logically deduced. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 538, 426 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1992); see State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 329, 89 S.E.2d 924, 926 (1955) (“[O]n a motion for direction of verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not with its weight; and, although he should not refuse to grant the motion where the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, it is his duty to submit the case to the jury if there be any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.”); see also Crawford v. United States, 375 F.2d 332, 334 (D.C. Cir. 1967) (“The jury question of whether there was proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt presents a stricter or higher standard than the trial court’s consideration of whether there is sufficient evidence to allow the jury to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, and it rests in the unreviewable ratiocinations of twelve reasonable persons whose deliberations are protected by the highest security.”).

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is **any** direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge’s ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). The appellate court may only reverse the trial judge’s denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge’s ruling. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). “[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge’s ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986);

see also Crawford, 375 F.2d at 334 (“It is not the function of appellate judges to weigh the evidence and decide that if they had doubts other reasonable persons were compelled to have the same doubts. If that were the test the jury of twelve would be relegated to the very low grade function of secondary fact finders.”).

When a defendant raises a claim of self-defense, the State is required to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011); see State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 544, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492-493 (1998) (“[C]urrent law requires the State to disprove self-defense, once raised by the defendant, beyond a reasonable doubt.”). The State’s burden of disproving self-defense is satisfied when the State disproves any one of the elements of self-defense by proof beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572, 586 (2010). In making a determination as to whether the State met its burden of disproving self-defense, an appellate court should apply the traditional standard of review applied when reviewing the denial of any other directed verdict motion and affirm if there is any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence viewed in a light most favorable to the State reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt could be fairly or logically deduced. See State v. Butler, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014) (applying the traditional directed verdict standard of review when considering whether Butler was entitled to a directed verdict based on a claim of self-defense); see also State v. Strickland, 389 S.C. 210, 214, 697 S.E.2d 681, 683 (Ct. App. 2010) (“[U]nless it can be said as a matter of law that self-defense was established, it was not error for the trial court to submit the case to the jury.”).

Four elements must be present to establish the defense of self-defense. State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 344, 520 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1999). Those required elements are: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must either have actually

believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury or have actually been in imminent danger; (3) if the defense is based on the belief of imminent danger, the belief must have been the same as one that would have been entertained by a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage in the same situation; if the defendant was in actual imminent danger, the circumstances must have been such that would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to prevent serious bodily injury or loss of life; and (4) there was no other probable manner of avoiding the danger than to act as the defendant did in the situation. State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 280, 440 S.E.2d 370, 372 (1994). “It is an axiomatic principle of law that the defense has not been established if any one element is disproven.” Bixby, 388 S.C. at 554, 698 S.E.2d at 586.

In the case at bar, the evidence and testimony presented during trial—when viewed in a light most favorable to the State as required—tended to prove Appellant’s guilt for attempted murder. Specifically, regarding the proof of attempted murder, the evidence and testimony presented established Appellant provoked an altercation with Victim by directing derogatory and insulting language at him upon encountering him at the convenience store, willingly engaged in a physical altercation with Victim, intentionally stabbed Victim multiple times in the abdomen with a knife that had a roughly five-inch-long blade, and then shouted to Victim he got what he deserved after fleeing from the store. The evidence and testimony further established Victim’s injuries, which included a punctured lung, were grave, necessitated advanced life support in order to save his life, and resulted in several days of hospitalization. In light of that evidence and testimony, the jury could have concluded Appellant specifically intended to kill Victim and attempted to do so with malice aforethought when he intentionally stabbed Victim repeatedly with a knife. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (“A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill

another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.”); see also State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, n. 4, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996) (“[E]vidence of the character of the means or instrument used, manner in which it was used, purpose to be accomplished, resulting wounds or injuries, etc., are admissible to show intent with which the assault was committed.”); cf. State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 319, 755 S.E.2d 432, 436 (2014) (“[T]he only conclusion established by the evidence is that [Middleton] was guilty of attempted murder, given the facts that [Middleton] deliberately drove up to the passenger window and shot into the vehicle at least five times[.] . . . In our view, there is no other way to construe the evidence in this case but that [Middleton] was attempting to kill [his victims].”).

Likewise, the evidence and testimony presented during trial—when again viewed in a light most favorable to the State as required—tended to disprove Appellant was acting in self-defense when he stabbed Victim. Specifically, regarding that proof, the evidence and testimony presented established Appellant provoked a fight with Victim that Victim would not have otherwise engaged in by directing insulting and derogatory words at him and then subsequently stabbed Victim repeatedly during the course of a confrontation that had solely involved unarmed combat up to that point. The evidence and testimony further established Appellant was not bleeding and did not have any apparent injuries as a result of his fight with Victim, which supported a conclusion Appellant was not at any risk of suffering death or serious bodily injury when he chose to use deadly force against Victim. Under those circumstances, Appellant was not without fault for bringing on the altercation due to the fact it was expressly brought about by his own use of opprobrious language. See Strickland, 389 S.C. at 215, 697 S.E.2d at 684 (“The true rule is that the plea of self-defense is not available to one who uses language so opprobrious that a reasonable man would expect it to bring on a physical encounter, and which did actually

contribute to bringing it on. Additionally, the question of whether the language used was opprobrious enough as to have reasonably been expected to bring on a difficulty is ordinarily a question of fact for the jury.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)); see also State v. Council, 129 S.C. 116, 120, 123 S.E. 788, 789 (1924) (instructing a defendant can deprive himself of the right of self-defense through either actions or words). Similarly, Appellant was not entitled to use deadly force as no evidence was presented establishing it was reasonably necessary for him to do so in order to protect himself from death or serious bodily injury. See Strickland, 389 S.C. at 214-215, 697 S.E.2d at 683-684 (recognizing, in order for self-defense to be established, the defendant must have been in—or actually believed he was in—imminent danger of dying or sustaining serious bodily injury and either the circumstances were such a man of ordinary firmness and courage would use deadly force in order to save himself or a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief of imminent death or serious bodily injury); see also Black, 692 F.2d at 318 (“One may justifiably use *nondeadly* force against another in self-defense if he reasonably believes that the other is about to inflict unlawful bodily harm (*it need not be death or serious bodily harm*) upon him (and also believes that it is necessary to use such force to prevent it). . . . He may justifiably use *deadly* force against the other in self-defense, however, only if he reasonably believes that the other is about to inflict unlawful death or serious bodily harm upon him (and also that it is necessary to use deadly force to prevent it).” (citation omitted)); cf. United States v. Goodwin, 993 F.2d 1540, \_\_\_ (4th Cir. 1993) (rejecting Goodwin’s contention the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction for assault as “meritless” where “there was ample evidence before the district court that showed Goodwin went beyond the degree of force necessary for his self-defense”); State v. Walker, 136 Wash. 2d 767, 779, 966 P.2d 883, 889 (Wash. 1998) (“Any

reasonable person standing in [Walker]’s shoes would have perceived that only ‘an ordinary battery is all that was intended,’ in which case the use of deadly force was unjustified.” (citation and brackets omitted)).

Because the evidence and testimony presented during trial tended to prove Appellant’s guilt for all the elements of attempted murder while also tending to disprove self-defense, the trial judge was required to—and properly did—deny the directed verdict motion raised in Appellant’s case. See State v. Hall, 259 S.C. 529, 532, 193 S.E.2d 269, 270 (1972) (“[I]f the testimony presented a factual issue as to whether appellant killed her husband in self-defense, the motions for a directed verdict were properly denied.”); cf. Harvey, 110 S.C. at 277, 96 S.E. at 400 (instructing necessity to kill “is a matter for the jury”). In arguing to the contrary, Appellant recounts the evidence and all the inference that could be drawn from it in a manner solely favorable to his own case while maintaining the State failed to disprove any of the elements of self-defense based on his view of the evidence. However, in considering or reviewing a directed verdict motion, the evidence and testimony **must** be viewed in a light most favorable to the State instead of a light most favorable to the defendant. See Long, 325 S.C. at 63, 480 S.E.2d at 63-64 (“While self-defense can be inferred even from the State’s version of the evidence, the evidence of self-defense is not conclusive. . . . Accordingly, the trial judge properly refused to direct a verdict in appellant’s favor based on self-defense.”); see also State v. McGreer, 13 S.C. 464, 466 (1880) (explaining the question of whether self-defense was applicable is dependent on more than just the defendant’s own beliefs). When viewed in the appropriate manner, the evidence and testimony in Appellant’s case did not uncontrovertibly establish self-defense and, instead, supported a conclusion Appellant was not acting in self-defense when he attempted to kill his victim. See State v. Jenkins, 222 S.C. 359, 360-361, 72 S.E.2d 829, 829 (1952) (“It is not the

function of [the appellate] court to pass upon the weight of the evidence, but only to determine its sufficiency to support the verdict[.]”); see also Butler, 407 S.C. at 382, 755 S.E.2d at 460 (“[T]he evidence in the present case created a jury issue on the issue of self-defense. For example, as the trial court recognized when ruling on the directed verdict motion, [Butler]’s various, inconsistent accounts of how the stabbing occurred created credibility issues and questions of fact to be resolved by the jury.”); cf. Dickey, 394 S.C. at 503, 716 S.E.2d at 103 (finding a directed verdict on self-defense was warranted **only** where the evidence of self-defense was “uncontroverted”). Therefore, the trial judge had a duty to submit Appellant’s case to the jury to allow for proper resolution of the issues raised by the evidence, and he committed no conceivable error by doing so. See Clark v. State, 396 S.C. 164, 172, 719 S.E.2d 708, 712 (Ct. App. 2011) (“[I]t is the trial court’s duty to submit the case to the jury if there is any evidence, either direct or circumstantial, which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which the accused’s guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.”). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

### III.

**The trial judge committed no error by presenting supplemental instructions in response to the jury's note because those instructions accurately and properly explained the law applicable to Appellant's case and served to clarify the confusion demonstrated by the note. However, even assuming the trial judge's supplemental instructions were somehow erroneous, any error resulting from those instructions was entirely harmless as the trial judge's response to the jury's note merely clarified proof of premeditation was unnecessary for a defendant to be convicted of attempted murder, which was an unquestionably accurate statement of law.**

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